
 

 
 

Law & Democracy 
Democratic Services 

 

 

 

T O  C O U N C I L L O R : 
 

Mrs R H Adams 
G A Boulter 

Mrs L M Broadley (Chair) 
F S Broadley 
D M Carter 

M H Charlesworth 
Mrs H E Darling JP 

M L Darr (Vice-Chair) 
Mrs L Eaton JP 
F S Ghattoraya 

J Kaufman 
Mrs L Kaufman 

Ms C D Kozlowski 
Mrs H E Loydall 

 
I summon you to attend the following meeting for the transaction of the business in the agenda below. 
 

Meeting: Licensing and Regulatory Committee 

Date and Time: Thursday, 9 March 2023, 6.30 pm 

Venue: Council Offices, Bushloe House, Station Road, Wigston, Leicestershire, LE18 2DR 

Contact: Democratic Services 

t:  (0116) 257 2775 

e:  democratic.services@oadby-wigston.gov.uk 

 
 Yours faithfully 

 

 
Meeting ID:  2299 

Council Offices 
Wigston 
28 February 2023 

 
 

Mrs Anne E Court 
Chief Executive 

 

 

It has cost £3.98 to print, package and post this single agenda pack for this meeting. 

A full cost breakdown for all agenda packs for this meeting is provided further down.. 

 

I T E M  N O .  A G E N D A  P A G E  N O ’ S  

 

1.   Live Stream of Meeting | Instructions  

 This meeting will be live streamed. 
  
Press & Public Access: 
 
YouTube Live Stream 
 
A direct link to the live stream of the meeting's proceedings on the Council's 
YouTube Channel is below. 
 
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=c2MN0DwD6CE  

 

~ Page 1 ~

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=c2MN0DwD6CE


 

Licensing and Regulatory Committee 
Thursday, 9 March 2023, 6.30 pm 

 Printed and published by Democratic Services, 
Oadby and Wigston Borough Council, Council Offices, 

Station Road, Wigston, Leicestershire, LE18 2DR 
 

2.   Apologies for Absence  

 To receive apologies for absence from Members to determine the quorum of the 
meeting in accordance with Rule 7 of Part 4 of the Constitution. 

 

3.   Appointment of Substitutes  

 To appoint substitute Members in accordance with Rule 26 of Part 4 of the 
Constitution and the Substitution Procedure Rules. 

 

4.   Declarations of Interest  

 Members are reminded that any declaration of interest should be made having 
regard to the Members’ Code of Conduct. In particular, Members must make 
clear the nature of the interest and whether it is 'pecuniary' or ‘non-pecuniary'. 

 

5.   Minutes of the Previous Meeting 4 - 5 

 To read, confirm and sign the minutes of the previous meeting in accordance 
with Rule 19 of Part 4 of the Constitution. 

 

6.   Action List Arising from the Previous Meeting  

 To read, confirm and note the Action List arising from the previous meeting.  

7.   Petitions and Deputations  

 To receive any Petitions and, or, Deputations in accordance with Rule(s) 11 and 
12 of Part 4 of the Constitution and the Petitions Procedure Rules respectively. 
 

 

8.   Licensing & Regulatory Update (Q3 2022/23) (Presentation) 6 - 16 

 Presentation of the Senior Strategic Development Manager  

9.   Food Safety Enforcement Policy (March 2023)  

 Report of the Senior Strategic Development Manager   

 
You can access all available public meeting documents  

and audio-visual live streams and recordings electronically on: 
 

  

  

    

Our website oadby-
wigston.gov.uk under 

'Your Council’ and 
‘Meeting Dates, 

Agendas & Minutes’  

Your smart iPad, 
Android or 

Windows device 
with the intuitive 

‘Modern.Gov’ app 

Our YouTube Channel 
available at 

bit.ly/3vji3FY or 
smart device with the 

‘YouTube’ app. 

Our audio platform 
soundcloud.com/ 
oadbywigstonbc or 
smart device with the 
‘SoundCloud’ app 

 

 

The cost breakdown for printing, packaging and posting the agenda pack for 
this meeting (excluding any carbon footprint impact) is calculated as follows: 

 

 This agenda pack (1) All agenda packs (9)  

Paper, ink and envelope £2.24 £20.16 

~ Page 2 ~

https://moderngov.oadby-wigston.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?bcr=1
https://moderngov.oadby-wigston.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?bcr=1
https://apps.apple.com/gb/app/modern-gov/id1453414073?mt=8
https://play.google.com/store/apps/details?id=uk.co.moderngov.modgov&hl=en
https://www.microsoft.com/en-gb/p/moderngov/9pfpjqcvz8nl
https://bit.ly/3vji3FY
https://apps.apple.com/us/app/youtube-watch-listen-stream/id544007664
https://soundcloud.com/oadbywigstonbc
https://soundcloud.com/oadbywigstonbc
https://itunes.apple.com/gb/app/soundcloud-music-audio/id336353151?mt=8
https://itunes.apple.com/gb/app/soundcloud-music-audio/id336353151?mt=8


 

Licensing and Regulatory Committee 
Thursday, 9 March 2023, 6.30 pm 

 Printed and published by Democratic Services, 
Oadby and Wigston Borough Council, Council Offices, 

Station Road, Wigston, Leicestershire, LE18 2DR 
 

(A4 white, colour, C4 envelope) 

Postage 
(1st class, large) 

£1.74 £15.66 

Officer time 
(Pro rata hourly rate) 

n/a £5.17 

 

Total cost(s) £3.98 £40.99 
 

Please contact Democratic Services to discuss the more cost-effective and environmentally-friendly 
options available for receiving this agenda pack, including any IT and/or training requirements. 

 

 

~ Page 3 ~



 

Licensing and Regulatory Committee 
Thursday, 8 December 2022, 6.30 pm 

Chair / Vice-
Chair’s Initials  

 

 

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE LICENSING AND REGULATORY COMMITTEE HELD 
AT/BY COUNCIL OFFICES, BUSHLOE HOUSE, STATION ROAD, WIGSTON, 

LEICESTERSHIRE, LE18 2DR ON THURSDAY, 8 DECEMBER 2022 COMMENCING AT 6.30 
PM 

 
PRESENT 

 
Meeting ID:  2274 

 
D M Carter Chair 
 

COUNCILLORS  

 

Mrs R H Adams 
G A Boulter 
D M Carter 
J Kaufman 
Mrs L Kaufman 
Ms C D Kozlowski 

 

  
 

OFFICERS IN ATTENDANCE  
 
D M Gill Head of Law & Democracy / Monitoring Officer 
A Hunt Democratic & Electoral Services Officer 
Ms H Ingar Solicitor 
J Wells Senior Strategic Development Manager 
 

 
 
22.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

 
An apology for absence was received from Councillors Mrs L M Broadley, F S Broadley, M H 
Charlesworth, Mrs H E Darling JP, M L Darr, Mrs L Eaton JP, F S Ghattoraya and Mrs H E 
Loydall. 
 
In the absence of the Chair and Vice Chair, it was moved by Councillor G A Boulter and 
seconded by Councillor Ms C D Kozlowski and by affirmation of the meeting it was 
 
UNANIMOUSLY RESOLVED THAT: 
 
Councillor D M Carter be appointed the Chair for the duration of the meeting. 

23.   APPOINTMENT OF SUBSTITUTES 
 
None. 

24.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
None. 

25.   MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 
 
By affirmation of the meeting, it was 
 

~ Page 4 ~

Agenda Item 5



 

Licensing and Regulatory Committee 
Thursday, 8 December 2022, 6.30 pm 

Chair / Vice-
Chair’s Initials  

 

 

UNANIMOUSLY RESOLVED THAT: 
 
The minutes of the previous meeting held on 29 September 2022 be taken as 
read, confirmed and signed. 

26.   ACTION LIST ARISING FROM THE PREVIOUS MEETING 
 
None. 

27.   PETITIONS AND DEPUTATIONS 
 
None. 

28.   LICENSING & REGULATORY UPDATE (Q2 2022/23) (PRESENTATION) 
 
The Committee gave consideration to the presentation (as set out on pages 7 - 17 of the 
agenda pack) delivered by the Senior Strategic Development Manager, which asked it to 
note the Council’s Licensing and Regulatory Update. 
 
By affirmation of the meeting, it was  
 
UNANIMOUSLY RESOLVED THAT: 
 
The content of the presentation be noted. 

 
 

 
THE MEETING CLOSED AT 7.11 pm 

 
 

   

 Chair / Vice-Chair 
 

 Thursday, 9 March 2023 
 

 
 

Printed and published by Democratic Services, Oadby and Wigston Borough Council, Council 
Offices, Station Road, Wigston, Leicestershire, LE18 2DR 

~ Page 5 ~



Licensing and 
Regulatory update 

Jon Wells
Licensing and Regulatory Committee  
9 March 2023.

~
 P

age 6 ~

A
genda Item

 8



Food  

• FSA most recent temperature check all satisfactory 
• Dealing with complaints and reports of alleged food 

poisoning (9 in total) 
• 90% compliance rate, with 31 premises awaiting inspection 
• Sampling to commence 2023/24 
• Q3 all high risk premises all completed 
• 12 B’s and Cs to carry out in Q4 along with 77 other lower 

risk inspections 
• Noticed a drop off in standards from some previously highly 

rated premises which will impact on Q4 compliance rate     

~
 P

age 7 ~



Food scores 

~
 P

age 8 ~



Food poor performers 

1. Big China 1- was paperwork, practices and training.  Reviist will be 
done. 

2. Cheikos- 1 this was practices but also paperwork.  These have 
been addressed now but they haven’t applied for a rescore. 

3. Conifer Lodge 1- this was practices and paperwork.  They had two 
revisits and have improved, but haven’t applied for rescore. 

4. Holmes- is now a 5 was inspected last week and standards have 
improved with new manager. 

5. The Wheel Inn- 1.  Issues with management, waste. 
6. Sycamore Cottage - 2 structure of the kitchen. 
7. Corner Café- 2.  This was mainly paperwork. 

~
 P

age 9 ~



Food 
FHRS score 

5 (very good) 280

4 (good) 35

3 (generally satisfactory)  23

2 (improvement necessary)  2

1 (major improvement 
necessary) 

4

0 (urgent improvement 
necessary) 

0

Awaiting inspection (new 
businesses) 

31

~
 P

age 10 ~



Selective Licensing   

• No of rented properties – 827
• Applications received – 782
• Exemptions/empty – 1 and 16 respectively 
• Licenses issued – 663 (pending 91, withdrawn 28) 
• Income - £582,734
• Notice of intent served – 39

~
 P

age 11 ~



Green Homes Grant Programme   
• LAD programme (LAD2)

• LAD3 and HUG1

LAD2 has been closed down compliantly
Grant Funding Allocated - £305,200.00
Grant Funding Spent - £185,258.71

Properties – 21
Measures - 27

Grant Funding Allocated - £583,000
Grant Funding Spent/Committed  - £447,979.07
Properties Completed -26
Measures Installed – 34

Properties Outstanding - 17 

Measures Outstanding – 27

Forecasted Additional Capacity subject to 
BEIS/DENZ approval and Survey

Forecasted additional capacity subject to BEIS approval and survey 
(Department for Business Energy) 
Additional Funding Requested - £256,889.11
Additional Properties - 40
Additional Measures - 90

~
 P

age 12 ~



Private sector housing 

• 78 ongoing cases 
• HMO license update and review 
• Empty homes 
• Support for Housing Decarbonisation Programme - £500k over 2 

year period  

~
 P

age 13 ~



Air Quality

• Additional diffusion tubes – Newton Lane and the 
A6 in place.  Levels measured are 35.5ug/m3 for 
Harborough Rd/Regent Street and 26.3 ug/m3 for 
Welford Road/Newton Lane.  Both this figures are 
not bias corrected.   

• Blaby Road Project to commence in April 23 with 
schools and main focus on particulates 

~
 P

age 14 ~



Licensing 
• Licenses processed for 2022 

 

• Licensing Service Review ongoing 
• New guidance on Licensing Act and noise released 
• Fees and charges – working with finance 
• Licensed premises in South Wigston – working with immigration and trading 
standards on investigation 

• Animal welfare – joint working with Police on 2 illegal dog breeding 
investigations.  3 investigations into dog boarding/day care without licences 

• Refusal of driver's licence upheld at magistrate's court on public safety 
grounds    

Licence Type Number of Licences Issued
Combined Driver 29
Combined Driver (Renewal) 100
Hackney Carriage 81
Hackney Carriage (Renewal) 250
Private Hire Operator 2
Private Hire Vehicle 4
Private Hire Vehicle (Renewal) 15
Grand Total 481~

 P
age 15 ~



Environmental health 

• Welfare burials 
• PPC permits
• Regulatory Compliance Officer apprenticeship
• Air source heat pump guidance 
• Planning consultations increasing  
• Due diligence checks underway and mobilisation of 
contract with Animal Care Services Midlands Ltd to 
start 1 April 2023 

• Fly tipping SCRAP campaign to launch 

~
 P

age 16 ~



 

 

 

Licensing and 
Regulatory Committee 

Thursday, 09 March 
2023 

Matter for 
Information and 

Decision 

 

Report Title: Food Safety Enforcement Policy (March 2023) 

Report Author(s): Jon Wells (Senior Strategic Development Manager) 
 

Purpose of Report: To consider any relevant updates for the Food Safety Enforcement 
Policy 2023 (‘the Policy’) and to ensure any relevant changes are 
included.   

Report Summary: The current Policy needs to be reviewed and updated where 
necessary.  In 2023, it is essential that this is refreshed and updated 
to ensure the effective ongoing regulation of food establishments and 
to provide guidance to Officers to enable them to make effective 
decisions that are transparent, accountable, proportionate and 
consistent without placing or imposing unnecessary burdens on 
businesses.   

Recommendation(s): A. That the Food Safety Enforcement Policy 2023 be 
adopted; and 

B. That delegated authority be granted to the Head of 
Law and Democracy to consider any amendments as 
may be necessary in consultation with  the Chair of the 
Licensing and Regulatory Committee.   

Senior Leadership, 
Head of Service, 
Manager, Officer and 
Other Contact(s): 

David Gill (Head of Law and Democracy) 
(0116) 257 2626 
david.gill@oadby-wigston.gov.uk 
 
Jon Wells (Senior Strategic Development Manager) 
(0116) 257 2692 
jon.wells@oadby-wigston.gov.uk 

Strategic Objectives: Our Council (SO1) 
Our Communities (SO2) 
Our Economy (SO3) 
Our Partners (SO5) 

Vision and Values: Accountability (V1) 
Customer Focus (V5) 

Report Implications:- 

Legal: Whilst there is no statutory requirement for a local authority to adopt 
a Food Safety Enforcement Policy, it gives clarity to the public, partner 
agencies and businesses on the fair regulation of food establishments.  
It also provides a framework by which Officers can make effective 
decisions and ensures food safety enforcement action is focused on 
situations where the public are put at risk and on food businesses who 
negligently or intentionally contravene the law.      

Financial: There are no implications directly arising from this report. 

~ Page 17 ~

Agenda Item 9

mailto:jon.wells@oadby-wigston.gov.uk


 

 

Corporate Risk 
Management: 

Reputation Damage (CR4) 
Regulatory Governance (CR6) 

Equalities and Equalities 
Assessment (EA): 

There are no implications arising from this report. 

Human Rights: There are no implications arising from this report. 

Health and Safety: There are no implications arising from this report. 

Statutory Officers’ Comments:- 

Head of Paid Service: The report is satisfactory. 

Chief Finance Officer: The report is satisfactory. 

Monitoring Officer: The report is satisfactory. 

Consultees: None. 

Background Papers:  Enforcement Concordat 1988 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/syste
m/uploads/attachment_data/file/300673/enforce.pdf  

 Regulators Code 2014 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/syste
m/uploads/attachment_data/file/913510/14-705-regulators-
code.pdf 

Appendices:  

1. Draft Food Safety Enforcement Policy (March 2023)  

 

1. Introduction  

1.1 The Council has a legal duty to enforce food safety requirements in food businesses for 
matters such as licenses, food handling practice and foreign objects in food.  

1.2 The Draft Policy provided at Appendix 1 sets out what businesses and others being 
regulated can expect from the Council and demonstrates our commitment to the principles 
of good enforcement as set out in law and guidance.   

2. Policy Review  
 

2.1 The current policy approved in 2019 has been reviewed and updated and a draft is provided 
at Appendix 1.  
 

2.2 There have been changes in guidance primarily from the Food Standards Agency, following 
the pandemic, which is reflected in the Policy.  The principal legislation remains unchanged 
and is detailed in section 14.   
 

2.3 The Policy has been completely refreshed to provide transparency on how we intend to 
deliver regulation and what those affected can expect. 

 

 

~ Page 18 ~

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/300673/enforce.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/300673/enforce.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/913510/14-705-regulators-code.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/913510/14-705-regulators-code.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/913510/14-705-regulators-code.pdf


 

 
 

OADBY & WIGSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
FOOD SAFETY ENFORCEMENT 

POLICY 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Policy Owner: Head of Law and Democracy 
Committee Approval: Licensing and Regulatory Committee 
Approval Date: 9 March 2023 
Date of Policy Review: March 2024 ~ Page 17 ~

Appendix 1



2  

~ Page 18 ~



3  

CONTENTS 
 

INTRODUCTION         Page 
General Enforcement                   

1. Introduction       4 
2. Equality Impact Assessment                                                                                                  5 
3. Standards                                                                                                                                 5  

Food Safety Enforcement Policy 
4. Framework Agreement on Local Authority Food Law Enforcement                     7 
5. Scope of Document                                                                                                                7 
6. General Food Safety Enforcement Policy Statement                                                         7                                                        
7. Complaints Policy                                                                                                                   8  
8. Authorisation                                                                                                                           9 
9. Primary Authority Notification                                                                                               10  
10. Enforcement Options                                                                                                          11 
11. Food Safety Prosecution Policy  17 
12. Simple Cautioning                                                                                                               19 
13. Suspension/withdrawal of approval/conditional approval                                                20  
14. Relevant documents                                                                                                           25 

                           

~ Page 19 ~



4  

GENERAL ENFORCEMENT 

1. Introduction 
 

This document sets out what business and others being regulated can expect from 
Oadby & Wigston Borough Council's enforcement officers. It builds upon and should 
be read in conjunction with the Corporate Enforcement Policy adopted by the Council in 
2018. The Corporate Enforcement Policy is based on the principles of good 
enforcement contained in the Regulators Code (April 2014) produced by the Better 
Regulation Delivery Office (now the Office for Product Safety & Standards). Whilst 
following the corporate approach, this policy will provide information in greater detail on 
how food safety legislation is applied. 

 
This policy demonstrates our commitment to the principles of good enforcement as set 
out in the Legislative and Regulatory Reform Act 2006, the Enforcement Concordat 
and the Regulators Code. By adopting the Concordat, we commit ourselves to 
policies and procedures which contribute to best value and will provide information to 
show that we are observing them. 

 
The Council also takes into account advice contained in the Code for Crown 
Prosecutors, and endeavours to ensure that it supplements the advice outlined in 
specific enforcement guidance from other sources, including the Codes of Practice 
made under Section 40 of the Food Safety Act 1990. 

 
The primary function of central and local government enforcement work is to protect 
the public, the environment and groups such as consumers and workers. At the same 
time, carrying out enforcement functions in an equitable, practical and consistent 
manner helps to promote a thriving national and local economy. Oadby & Wigston 
Borough Council is committed to these aims and to maintaining a fair and safe trading 
environment. 

 
The effectiveness of legislation in protecting consumers or sectors in society depends 
crucially on the compliance by those regulated. We recognise that most businesses 
want to comply with the law. We will, therefore, take care to help businesses and 
others meet their legal obligations without unnecessary expense, while only 
intervening where there is a clear case for protection. All citizens will reap the benefits 
of this policy through better information, choice and safety. 

 
There are many instances where the enforcement responsibilities of the authority are 
shared by, or are complementary to, those of other agencies. Where these shared 
responsibilities exist, we will endeavour to set up, or join, liaison groups or working 
parties to ensure cost effective and efficient service delivery. Where situations occur in 
which shared enforcement with other agencies is appropriate, then a full exchange of 
information between those agencies will be implemented. 

~ Page 20 ~



5  

2. Equality Impact Assessment 
 

In preparing this policy, due consideration has been given to the needs of diverse 
community groups within the Borough of Oadby & Wigston. This has been borne in 
mind when considering the roles and responsibilities of enforcement officers in 
promoting fairness, equality and diversity in the delivery of service. 

 
3. Standards - General Enforcement Policy 

 

Where enforcement action is necessary, officers of the Council will take appropriate 
action dependent upon the seriousness of the breach of the law. 
The Council will consult with businesses and other interested parties on the 
development of clear standards which set out levels of service and performance that 
residents of, businesses within and visitors to the Borough can expect to receive. 
Performance against these standards will be published annually. 

 
Decisions on the course of action to be undertaken will consider the principles of good 
enforcement as set out in the Enforcement Concordat namely: 

 
3.1 Openness 

 
The Council will provide information and advice in plain language on the rules that we 
apply. We will disseminate it as widely as possible. We will be open about how we 
set about our work including any charges we set, consulting with businesses, 
voluntary sectors, other organisations and residents of the Borough. We will discuss 
general issues, specific compliance factors or problems with anyone experiencing 
difficulties. 

 
3.2 Helpfulness 

 

The Council believes that prevention is the best approach and that our role therefore 
involves actively working with businesses, especially small and medium sized 
businesses, to advise on and assist with compliance. We also believe in taking the 
same approach in our dealings with residents of, and visitors to, the Borough. 

 
The Council will provide a courteous and efficient service. Our staff will identify 
themselves by name. We will provide a contact point and telephone number for future 
dealings with the Council. We will encourage all those who have dealings with us to 
ask us for advice and information. 

 
We will deal efficiently and promptly with applications for approvals, licenses, 
registrations etc. Wherever possible, we will ensure that our enforcement services 
are effectively organised to avoid unnecessary overlaps and time delays. 

 
3.3 Proportionality 

 
The Council will make compliance as straightforward as possible by ensuring that 
any action we require is proportionate to the risks and to the seriousness 

~ Page 21 ~



6  

of the breach. Resolution will be sought at the lowest level of intervention as 
appropriate to the case, considering the circumstances and the attitude of those 
subject to regulation when considering what action to take. 

 
We will take particular care to work with small business, community and voluntary 
groups and individual residents so that they can meet their legal obligations without 
unnecessary expense where applicable. 

 
3.4 Consistency 

 

The Council will carry out its duties in a fair, equitable and consistent manner. 
 

Officers are expected to exercise their professional judgment in individual cases, but 
we will have arrangements in place to promote consistency, including effective liaison 
with other authorities locally, countywide, and nationally. 

 
3.5 Transparency 

 
The Council will ensure all regulatory requirements as well as changes to those 
requirements are promptly communicated to relevant businesses. 
The Council will provide clear and reliable advice and guidance to make it easier for 
businesses to understand and meet their regulatory obligations. 

 
When offering compliance advice, the Council will distinguish between statutory 
requirements and advice and guidance aimed at improvements above the minimum 
standards. 

 
The Council will provide appropriate means to ensure that businesses can reasonably 
seek advice from us without triggering enforcement action. 

 

3.6 Accountability 
 

The Council will create effective consultation and feedback with businesses. 
Enforcement activities will be open to public scrutiny, with clear and accessible 
policies and a fair and efficient complaints procedure. 

 
3.7 Targeted 

 
Enforcement will be primarily directed towards those activities that are likely to give 
rise to the greatest risks and most serious breaches of legislation, reflecting local 
and corporate priorities. Risk assessment will inform all aspects of our approach to 
regulatory activity and be based on all available relevant and good quality data. 

 
3.8 Economic Progress 

 
In addition to the principles of the Concordat the Councils' approach to enforcement 
will have regard to the Compliance Code which is based on recommendations of the 
Hampton Report. The Council will therefore consider the impact regulatory 
interventions may have on economic progress. We will only adopt a particular 
approach if the benefits justify the costs. 
 

~ Page 22 ~



7  

The Council will make reasonable attempts to ensure that the burdens of our 
interventions fall fairly and proportionately on small businesses by considering their 
size. This Council will allow for reasonable variations to standards to meet local 
priorities. 

 
 

THE FOOD SAFETY ENFORCEMENT POLICY 
 

4. Framework Agreement on Local Authority Food Law Enforcement 
 

The Authority shall set up, maintain and implement a documented enforcement policy 
in accordance with the relevant Food Safety Codes of Practice, the Enforcement 
Concordat and other official guidance, approved by the relevant Local Authority 
Member forum. 

 
The enforcement policy or an accurate summary should be readily available to the 
public and food businesses in the Authority's area. 

 
The Authority shall set up, maintain and implement documented procedures for follow 
up & enforcement actions in accordance with the relevant Food Safety Act Codes of 
Practice and official guidance 

 
The Authority shall carry out food law enforcement in line with the relevant Food 
Safety Act Codes of Practice. 

 
All decisions on enforcement action shall be made following consideration of the 
Authority's enforcement policy. The reasons for any departure from the criteria set 
out in the enforcement policy shall be documented. 

 
5. Scope of the document 

 

This document applies to the Environmental Health department food safety functions. 
 

The purpose of this document is to state the Authority’s general policy with respect to 
food law enforcement; following the principles of good enforcement contained in the 
Enforcement Concordat, Regulator’s Code and guidance issued by the Food 
Standards Agency. 

 
This policy builds upon the principles of good enforcement set out in the Council’s 
Corporate Enforcement Policy in relation to food safety law enforcement. 

 
6. General Food Safety Enforcement Policy Statement 

 

This Council is committed by action through education, training and 
enforcement to ensuring that food and drink intended for human consumption, 

~ Page 23 ~



8  

which is produced, stored, distributed, handled or consumed within the district is without 
risk to the health or safety of the consumer and satisfies the requirements of the Food 
Safety Act 1990 & other relevant legislation. 

 
Enforcement action will be based upon risk to public health, or the seriousness of the 
non-compliance with food safety law. 

 

It is the Council's aim to achieve and maintain consistency in its approach to 
enforcement. It is therefore committed to supporting the Government Statutory Code 
of Practice issued under Section 40 of the Food Safety Act 1990 and to such other 
guidance and industry codes as may be issued by recognised and authoritative 
bodies on food and food related matters. 

 

If an enforcement matter is professionally contentious, or appears to be of national 
significance, or it is felt that existing guidance has not adequately taken account of 
the legal provision, Case Law, relevant research or other evidence, the matter will be 
put to the Leicestershire Food Hygiene Liaison Group for consideration and possible 
referral to national bodies in order to ensure consistent enforcement. 

 
Only suitably trained officers will be employed by the Council on food law enforcement 
activities, with initial and refresher training consistent with those required in the Section 
40 Code of Practice and departmental policies. 

 
Officers will be fully equated with, and abide by, the policy when making enforcement 
decisions. Any departure from the policy will be exceptional, capable of justification 
and be fully considered by senior managers within the Law and Democracy Service 
Area before the decision is taken, unless it is considered there is significant risk to the 
public in delaying the decision. 

 
The policy shall be reviewed regularly or in the light of new legislation or guidance 
with any developments incorporated. 

 

7. Complaints Policy 
 

We are committed to providing ready access to those wishing to appeal or complain 
about enforcement action, in accordance with the Council's corporate complaints 
procedure. However, areas where there is a formal right of appeal or a legal remedy 
must be resolved through the legal process. 

 
Should anyone wish to complain informally, initial contact should be made with the 
Lead Food Officer to discuss the issues of concern. This may be in person, by 
telephone, writing or email. 

 
If a complainant wishes to make a formal complaint, or the complainant is not satisfied 
with the informal response, an initial formal complaint can be made in writing, by 
telephone or email, in person or by completion of the Council’s complaints form. The 
Council’s Corporate Complaints Procedure is available on our website and if 
complaints cannot be resolved informally, the complaint will be referred through this 
process.   

 

~ Page 24 ~



9  

At this point all the stages of the Council's Complaints Procedure will have been 
initiated and should have resolved the problem satisfactorily. If still dissatisfied, the 
complainant can approach the Local Government Ombudsman for adjudication. 

 
8. Authorisation 

 

No officer will carry out a food hygiene inspection and enforcement duties unless 
suitably trained, experienced and authorised by the Head of Law and Democracy. 

 
The purpose of this section is to state the Council's constitutional framework with 
respect to: 

 
a) Designating the officers who may authorise a prosecution under the Food 

Safety legislation. 
 

b) Identifying the limits of powers delegated to Food Enforcement Officers. 
 

c) Identifying the competencies necessary for Food Enforcement Officers to be 
authorised to undertake enforcement action. 

 
Authorisation to prosecute in individual cases will be in accordance with the Council's 
current Constitution. 

 
Enforcement action under the Food Safety Act 1990 or related legislation will be 
initiated by qualified, experienced and competent Enforcement Officers. 

 

8.1 The Delegation Framework 
 

a) Where, through upholding the principles outlined in the policy document, a 
prosecution is necessary, the following officer may authorise such action – 
Head of Law and Democracy or any other legal qualified person authorised 
by him. 

 
b) The following designated Officers will also be consulted as part of the 

prosecution decision making process – Lead Food Officer (Environmental Health). 

 
Other officers may be consulted in addition to external advisors / experts where 
appropriate. 

 
The designated Officers who are responsible for authorising a prosecution will be 
aware of the limits of their delegated powers by reference to the Councils Constitution, 
Statutory Codes of Practice and any other forms of guidance, including the principles set 
out in this policy. 

 
Only officers who have been authorised by the Council to issue Hygiene 
Improvement Notices will do so. Only an authorised officer who has personally 
witnessed the contravention(s) will sign the notice. 

 
Only officers who have been authorised by the Council to issue Remedial Action 
Notices will do so. Only an authorised officer who has personally witnessed the 
contravention(s) will sign the notice. 

~ Page 25 ~



10  

 

Only officers who have been authorised by the Council to issue Hygiene Emergency 
Prohibition Notices will do so. Only an authorised officer who has personally 
witnessed the contravention(s) will sign the notice. 

 
8.2  Training 

 

The criteria used to assess the competence of Food Enforcement Officers are those 
detailed in Council policy documents as well as specific requirements demanded in 
section 40 Statutory Code of Practice competency framework. 

 
In addition, the Council will provide appropriate initial and updated training to Food 
Enforcement Officers as is deemed necessary to enable them to carry out their duties 
efficiently and effectively. This will include the following: 

 
(a) Minimum update training of 20 hours per year for continual 

professional training of which 10 hours will be on core food matters. 
 

(b) Minimum of 15 hours revision training for authorised officers returning 
to food law enforcement. 

 
(c) Minimum of three months monitoring of newly qualified officers or 

Officers returning to food law enforcement duties after an absence 
of more than 3 years. 

 
In most instances, food safety enforcement action other than prosecution will be 
instigated by Environmental Health Officers and Technical Officers. 

 
9. Primary Authority Notification 

 

Section 28 of the Regulatory Enforcement and Sanctions Act 2008 requires enforcing 
authorities that wish to take enforcement action against a business which has a 
Primary Authority, to first notify the primary Authority of the proposed action. 
Enforcement action is widely defined for the purposes of the Act by the Co-ordination 
of Regulatory Enforcement (Enforcement Action) Order 2009, as amended. 

 

Statutory guidance on the scheme requires the notification of proposed enforcement 
action by the enforcing authority: 

 

 Should be made via the Primary Authority Register; 

 Should be itemised, where multiple enforcement actions are being proposed; 
and 

 Should include specific details set out in the statutory guidance and in the 
notification template on the Primary Authority Register. 

 

The statutory guidance also requires that, when making a notification, an enforcing 
authority should ensure that during the five working days following the notification, it is 
able to respond to requests from the primary authority for further information or 
clarification. 

 

~ Page 26 ~



11  

The Primary Authority has five working days to decide if it objects or not to the proposed 
enforcement action. If the Primary Authority or Regulated Business objects, they are 
entitled to refer the matter to the Office for Product Safety & Standards for 
consideration within 28 days. OPSS determinations must be adhered to. 

 
The legislation acknowledges that there will be times when the need to act swiftly is 
critical and it allows for notification to the Primary Authority to be retrospective in 
certain defined circumstances. This applies to: 

 

 Hygiene Emergency Prohibition Notices 

 Enforcement action that is required urgently to avoid significant risk of harm to 
human health. 

 

In their enforcement activities, all officers employed by Oadby & Wigston Borough 
Council will have due regard to the Primary Authority principles. 

 
10 Enforcement Options 

 

The purpose of this section is to state the authority's policy with respect to: 
 

(a) Achieving and maintaining consistency of approach in deciding on 
enforcement action concerning food safety. 

 

(b) Ensuring commitment to an approach in all enforcement decisions that is fair and 
balanced and based on common standards to protect the public. 

 
Enforcement options available, after consideration of all relevant information and 
evidence, are: 

 

(a) Take no action 
 

(b) Take informal action 
 

(c) Issue Statutory Notices 

(d) Prosecution 
 

(e) Issue Simple Cautions 
 

(f) Take prohibition action 
 

(g) Suspension or withdrawal of approvals 
 

The policy of this Council is as follows: 
 

10.1 No Action 
 

Where an intervention or investigation reveals full compliance with the relevant Food 
Safety and Food Standards Legislation / Codes of Practice, no further action is 
required, apart from issuing a post intervention report as required in Section 40 Code 
of Practice. The results of the inspection will be recorded in the premises file. 

~ Page 27 ~



12  

 
 

     10.2 Informal Action 
 

Informal action to secure compliance with legislation may be given in the form of: 
 

 Verbal Advice 
 

 Written advice 
 

 Written warnings 
 

In deciding to take informal enforcement action many criteria will be considered, 
including: 

 
(i) Whether the act or omission is serious enough to warrant formal action. 

 
(ii) Whether past compliance history indicates that informal action can be 

expected to achieve full compliance. 
 

(iii) Whether officers' confidence in the management of the premises is high. 
 

(i) Whether the consequences of non-compliance will pose a significant risk 
to public health. 

 
(v) Whether, even when some of the above criteria are not met, there may be 

circumstances in which informal action will be more effective than a formal 
approach.  
 

(vi) The availability of a due diligence defence (acting with reasonable 
care). 

 

Following a food hygiene inspection an Enforcement Officer will issue an intervention 
report as prescribed in the Section 40 Code of Practice. The report will confirm all 
matters discussed at the closing meeting with a Food Business Operator and confirm 
any verbal advice given at that time. The report will be sent to the Food Business 
Operator of the business and will contain equivalent details to those prescribed in 
Annex 6 – Food Business establishment/food premises intervention report: 

 
(i) Outline the regulations being contravened. 

 
(ii) Contain all the information necessary to understand what work (if any) is 

required and why it is necessary. 
 

(iii) Clearly indicate measures which are recommendations of good hygiene 
practice and which are legal requirements. 

 
(iv) Indicate the time allowed for meeting any legal requirements. 

 
Revisits to premises following an intervention will be made where significant 

~ Page 28 ~



13  

contraventions of food hygiene or processing regulations and/or poor hygiene 
practices are found. 

 
 

10.3 Hygiene Improvement Notices 
 

The use of Hygiene Improvement Notices will, in general, be related to a risk to health. 
They will not be issued for minor technical infringements of the law, hence they may 
be appropriate in any of the following circumstances or a combination thereof: 

 

 Formal action is proportionate to the risk to public health; 
 

 There is a record of non-compliance with breaches of the food hygiene 
regulations; and 

 

 The authorised officer has reason to believe that an informal approach will not 
be successful. 

 
Authorised officers will follow the  relevant Section 40 Code of Practice and guidance on 
the issue of Hygiene Improvement Notices, including the placement of realistic time 
limits for compliance, preferably agreed with the Food Business Operator, although the 
final decision will rest with the Officer. The authorised Officer will also discuss with 
the Food Business Operator what must be done and will consider all the options 
available. 

Consideration for an extension of time to comply with a Hygiene Improvement Notice 
will be viewed favourably if the Food Business Operator has a genuine reason for 
requesting one. When deciding on a request for an extension the following will be 
considered: 

 
(i) the risk to public health associated with the fault if an extension was granted; 

 

(ii) the reason for the request; 
 

(iii) the remedy involved; 
 

(iv) the past record of co-operation of the Food Business Operator; 
 

(v) Any temporary action which the Food Business Operator proposes to 
take to remedy the defect. 

 
The Food Business Operator will be advised at the time of service of the notice that 
any request for an extension of the time limit should be made in writing before the 
expiry date of the notice. 

 
Once the request for an extension of time has been considered the Food Business 
Operator will be advised, in writing, as to whether the request was adjudged 
reasonable or otherwise. The reasons for that decision will be explained and any new 
time limits reconfirmed. 

 
Failure to comply with a Hygiene Improvement Notice will, in general, result in legal 

~ Page 29 ~



14  

proceedings being instigated. 
 

We will notify other appropriate bodies of any Hygiene Improvement Notice served 
and its outcome where necessary. This will include any other appropriate enforcement 
authorities. 
 

 

10.4 Remedial Action Notices/Detention Notices 
 

Powers to issue Remedial Action Notices and Detention Notices in respect of 
establishments subject to approval under Regulation 853/2004 are provided by 
regulation 9 of the Food Safety and Hygiene (England) Regulations 2013. 

 
Approach to enforcement. 
 
Authorised officers will, wherever possible seek to remedy non-compliance in 
establishments subject to approval under Regulation 853/2004 by a graduated 
approach to enforcement. When necessary, the option to issue Hygiene Improvement 
Notices should be considered. Authorised officers should consider these options 
before commencing any other enforcement action. However, Remedial Action 
Notices and/or Detention Notices may be used, when appropriate. 
 

Authorised officers may serve a Remedial Action Notice if any of the requirements of 
the "Hygiene Regulations", as defined by regulation 2 of the Food Safety and Hygiene 
(England) Regulations 2013, are being breached or an inspection under the "Hygiene 
Regulations" is being hampered. More specifically, this provision provides, through 
the service of a Remedial Action Notice, for the prohibition of the use of any 
equipment or any part of the establishment, the imposition of conditions upon, or 
prohibiting, any process and also allows for the rate of an operation to be reduced or, 
stopped completely. 

 
Regulation 9 also includes the provision for the detention of any food, including the 
taking of samples for the purposes of examination, by the service of a Detention Notice. 

 

Circumstances which may lead to the issue of a Remedial Action Notice in respect of 
an establishment include: 

 
• the failure of any equipment or part of an establishment to comply with the 

requirements of the "Hygiene Regulations" as defined by regulation 2 of the Food 
Safety and Hygiene (England) Regulations 2013; 

• the need to impose conditions upon or the prohibition of the carrying on of any 
process breaching the requirements of the Regulations or hampering adequate 
health inspection in accordance with the Regulations; and 

• where the rate of operation of the business is detrimental to its ability to comply 
with the Regulations. 

 
Circumstances which might lead to the issue of a Detention Notice include: 

 
• where there are indications or suspicions that food at an establishment is unsafe 

and therefore examination is necessary, including the taking of samples. 

~ Page 30 ~



15  

 

Such action should be proportionate to the risk to public health and where immediate 
action is required to ensure food safety. A Remedial Action Notice may be used if a 
continuing offence requires urgent action owing to a risk to food safety or when 
corrective measures have been ignored by the food business operator and there is a 
risk to public health. As soon as the authorised officer is satisfied that the action 
specified in a Remedial Action Notice has been taken, the notice must be withdrawn 
by means of a further notice in writing. Similarly, in respect of a Food Detention Notice, 
if the authorised officer is satisfied that the food need no longer be detained, the 
relevant notice must also be withdrawn by means of a further notice in writing. 

~ Page 31 ~



16  

10.5 Hygiene Emergency Prohibition Notices 
 

The serving of a Hygiene Emergency Prohibition Notice to close premises or a part of 
the premises, to require a discontinuation of use of equipment or a process, is an 
action which will not be entered into lightly. A Hygiene Emergency Prohibition Notice 
will only be considered if an authorised Officer has evidence that a health risk 
condition is fulfilled i.e. there is an imminent risk of injury to health. Examples of health 
risk conditions which may warrant prohibition, which are not prescriptive or 
exhaustive, include: 

 
Health risk conditions where prohibition of premises may be appropriate 

 

 Infestation by rats, mice, cockroaches, birds or other vermin, serious enough to 
result in the actual contamination of food or a significant risk of contamination. 

 

 Very poor structural condition and poor equipment and/or poor maintenance, or 
routine cleaning and/or serious accumulations of refuse, filth or other extraneous 
matter, resulting in the actual contamination of food or a significant risk of food 
contamination. 

 

 Drainage defects or flooding of the establishment, serious enough to result in the 
actual contamination of food, or a significant risk of food contamination. 

 

 Premises or practices which seriously contravene food law and have been, 
or are implicated, in an outbreak of food poisoning. 

 

 General failure to implement the FSA Guidance: Controlling the Risk of 
Cross-Contamination from E. coli O157 which presents an imminent risk to 
public health. 

 

 Any combination of the above, or the cumulative effect of contraventions which, 
taken together, represent the fulfilment of the health risk condition. 

 
Health risk conditions where the prohibition of equipment may be appropriate, 
include: 

 

 Use of defective equipment, e.g. a pasteuriser incapable of achieving the required 
pasteurisation temperature. 

 

 Use of equipment for the processing of high-risk foods that has been inadequately 
cleaned or disinfected or which is grossly contaminated and can no longer be 
properly cleaned. For example, the dual use of complex equipment, such as 
vacuum packers, for both raw and ready to eat foods without verification and 
HACCP procedures to ensure effective cleaning and disinfection is in place. (With 
regard to the FSA Guidance: Controlling the Risk of Cross-Contamination from E. 
coli O157) 

 

 Use of storage facilities or transport vehicles for primary produce where the 
storage facilities or transport vehicles have been inadequately cleaned or 
disinfected. 

 

~ Page 32 ~



17  

Health risk conditions where prohibition of a process may be appropriate: 
 

 Serious risk of cross contamination. 
 

 Failure to achieve sufficiently high processing temperatures. 
 

 Operation outside critical control criteria, for example, incorrect pH of a product 
which may allow Clostridium botulinum to multiply. 

 

 The use of a process for a product for which it is inappropriate. 
 

Where a Food Business Operator volunteers to close a premise or cease to use any 
equipment, process or treatment, but where there is either: 

 

(1) No confidence in the integrity of the Food Business Operator; or 
 

(2) The Food Business Operator is unwilling to confirm in writing his/her offer of a 
Voluntary prohibition. 

 
An application for a Hygiene Emergency Prohibition Order will be made to the 
Magistrates Court within 72 hours of the issue of a Hygiene Emergency Prohibition 
Notice. 

 
Officers will notify other appropriate bodies of any Hygiene Emergency Prohibition 
Orders served and its outcome where necessary. This will include any other 
appropriate enforcement authorities. 

 
10.6 Voluntary Prohibition 
 
Should a voluntary offer to close a premise or cease the use of any equipment, 
process or treatment be accepted the Officer will explain to the Food Business Operator 
that, by making the offer to close, he is relinquishing the rights to compensation if a 
court subsequently declines to make a hygiene emergency prohibition order. 

 
If an authorised officer is minded to accept any voluntary offer from a Food Business 
Operator the officer will: 

 
(i) determine whether the nature and extent of the offer would have at least the 

equivalent effect of the service of a Hygiene Emergency Prohibition Notice. 

(ii) require an offer document signed and dated by the Food Business Operator 
setting out the nature and extent of the offer & countersigned by the 
authorised officer. 

~ Page 33 ~



25  

11 Food Safety Prosecution Policy 
 

This section details the Council's criteria on which a decision is made whether to 
prosecute. 

 
The Council always has the discretion of whether or not to prosecute for an offence. 
The decision to prosecute is a very significant one and is not taken lightly and is based 
on the circumstances of each case laid out in the policy below. 

 
11.1 The Policy 

 

A breach of law will not automatically result in legal proceedings. The circumstances 
which are likely to warrant prosecution may be characterised by one or more of the 
following criteria: 

 
(a) There is a flagrant breach of law such that public health, safety or well- being is 

put at risk, or there is a serious offence under food standards legislation. 
 

(b) A failure by the offender to correct an identified serious potential risk to food 
safety after having been given a reasonable opportunity to do so. 

 
(c) A failure to comply in full or part with a Statutory Notice, approval or 

registration. 
 

(d) There is a history of similar offences related to risk to the public or food standards 
offences. 

 
(e) A Simple Caution has previously been issued for a similar offence. 

 
Before a prosecution proceeds, the enforcement officer will need to be satisfied that 
the case is in the public interest and is supported by sufficient relevant evidence which 
is: 

 
(a) Admissible 

 
(b) Substantial 

 
(c) Reliable 

 
The guidance contained in Section 40 and the Code for Crown Prosecutors will be 
followed and all the following factors taken into account: 

 
(a) The seriousness of the alleged offence. 

(b) The previous history of the party concerned. 
 

(c) The likelihood that a defence of due diligence (acting with reasonable care) 
can be established. 

~ Page 34 ~



25  

 

(d) Whether important witnesses are willing and able to co-operate. 
 

(e) Willingness of the party to prevent the problem recurring. 
 

(f) Whether prosecution would be of public benefit. 
 

(g) Whether a Simple Caution, Hygiene Improvement or Hygiene 
Prohibition Notice might be more appropriate. 

 
(h) Any explanation offered by the party concerned. 

 
In addition to the above criteria authorised Officers will have regard to the Statutory 
Code of Practice for Regulators 

 
Investigation and decision making will not be unduly prolonged or delayed. It will be in 
accordance with principles laid out in the: 

 
(i) Human Rights Act 1998 

 
(ii) Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984 

 
(iii) Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 

 
We will keep witnesses, complainants or other parties informed as to the progress of 
the case. 

 
The final decision whether to prosecute or not is matter for the Head of Law and 
Democracy or any  other legally qualified person appointed by him.  
 
Following a successful prosecution, a Hygiene Prohibition Order may be imposed by 
the Court where it considers that the premises, equipment or process put the public 
health at risk. The Court may also ban the Food Business Operator, and/or manager, 
from managing a food business. Where the Council intend to seek a Hygiene 
Prohibition Order under Section 11 of the Food Safety Act 1990 it will: 

 
(a) Ensure that it can satisfy the Court that there was a public risk. 

 
(b) Prior to the hearing notify the Food Business Operator, or their 

representative, in writing or orally of its intentions to seek a Hygiene 
Prohibition Order, and consequently any evidence which will be 
disclosed in advance. 

(c) Make enquires for evidence of previous convictions or warnings. 
 

The Officer principally involved in the case will attend court in person even when a 
guilty plea has been lodged, so they can give further evidence, should the court require 
it before granting a Hygiene Prohibition Order, and note any mitigating evidence 
submitted. 

~ Page 35 ~



25  

 
11.2 Post Prosecution 

 

Following a successful prosecution, the Council will: 
 

(a) Notify any relevant authority of the conviction and any Hygiene 
Prohibition Orders in sufficient detail for other authorities to make use 
of the intelligence. 

 
(b) Notify other appropriate enforcement authorities. 

 
(c) With respect to complaints, notify the complainant of the outcome of 

the case. 
 

12 Simple Cautioning 
 

 

This section details the Council's procedures with respect to Simple Cautions, viz: 
 

(a) When it is appropriate to use a Simple Caution. 
 

(b) That the use of Simple Cautions will be in accordance with the Ministry of 
Justice Guidance Simple Cautioning of Adult Offenders (April 2015). 

 

(c) The designation of the Cautioning Officer. 
 

(d) What to do when a person declines the offer of a Simple Caution. 
 

(e) Notifying other bodies or authorities, if appropriate. 
 

The procedure aims to ensure consistency in using cautions.  
 
12.1 The Aims of Cautioning 

 

The aim of a Simple Caution is to: 
 

 deal quickly and simply with offences 

 divert offenders where appropriate from appearing in the criminal courts; and 

 reduce the likelihood of re-offending 

12.2 The Criteria for Cautions 
 

A person will only receive a Simple Caution when the circumstances of the offence 
meet the criteria identified in Home Office Circular 016/2008 or any replacement 
thereof and therefore there must be: 

 
(i) Sufficient evidence of the offenders’ guilt to make a conviction a realistic 

prospect; 
(ii) A clear & reliable admission of guilt by the offender; and 

~ Page 36 ~



25  

(iii) It is in the public interest to use a Simple Caution taking into account the 
public interest principles set out in the Code for Crown Prosecutors 

 

Factors which will be taken into account on whether to issue a Simple Caution include: 
 

(a) The nature and seriousness of the offence 
 

(b) The likely penalty 
 

(c) Previous offence history and attitude to the offence for which a simple caution 
is contemplated. 

 
We will inform the offender in writing that we propose to issue a Simple Caution. 

 
The Simple Caution will be administered in person by the Cautioning Officer, who is 
the Head of Law and Democracy or any  other legally qualified person appointed by 
him.. 

 
The Simple Caution will be issued in writing. Two copies will be signed firstly by the 
person receiving and then the person administering the caution. One of the copies will 
then be given to the person receiving the caution. 

 
If the offender refuses to accept a Caution or fails to return the signed copies within 14 
days, we will consider taking legal proceedings. 

 

12.3 Recording Offences 
 

We will record details of the offence in the appropriate premises file. 
 
12.4 Notifying Other Bodies 

 

We will notify appropriate enforcing authorities of the Caution as soon as possible 
after its issue. 

 
If the offence relates to a complaint, we will inform the complainant that a formal 
caution has been issued. 

 
13 Suspension/Withdrawal of Approval/Conditional Approval 

 

These enforcement options are available in establishments subject to approval under 
European Community Regulation No.853/2004. 

 
Powers to withdraw and suspend an approval/conditional approval are provided by 
Article 31(2) of Regulation 882/2004 

 

Any suspension or withdrawal of an approval takes immediate effect. As a result, 
the establishment must not be used for any activities which would render it subject 
to approval under regulation 853/2004. 

~ Page 37 ~



25  

 
On discovery of non-compliance in establishments subject to approval, this Council 
will explore the use of all other enforcement options to control the food hazards 
presented before considering suspension or withdrawal. Non-compliance will not 
necessarily be considered sufficient to justify the immediate suspension or 
withdrawal of an establishment’s approval/conditional approval. 

 
13.1 Suspension 

 

Oadby & Wigston Borough Council will only initiate procedures to suspend an 
establishment’s approval or conditional approval after other enforcement options 
have been considered. 

 
13.2 Withdrawal 

 

Oadby & Wigston Borough Council will only initiate procedures to withdraw an 
establishment’s approval or conditional approval if other enforcement options have 
been considered, including suspension of the approval. 

 
An establishment’s approval or conditional approval will only be withdrawn in 
circumstances where the food business operator is unable to satisfy the Council to 
the extent that there is reasonable expectation that the identified deficiencies will be 
rectified, and an acceptable standard will be maintained in the future. 

 
13.3 Notifications 

 

Any decision to suspend or withdraw an establishment’s approval/conditional 
approval will be notified in writing to the food business operator. The notice will give 
the reasons for the suspension or withdrawal, the matters necessary to satisfy the 
requirements of the Regulation, detail the right of appeal against the decision and 
make it clear that activities requiring approval cannot be undertaken. 

 
The Council will notify the Food Standards Agency of the decision and retain a 
copy of the written notification on the premises file. 

 

Appeal against decision to refuse/suspend/withdraw 
 

Following an appeal against a decision of Oadby & Wigston Borough Council to 
refuse or withdraw an approval, the food business operator may continue to 
undertake activities requiring approval, pending the results of the appeal. This 
provision does not extend to appeals against the suspension of an approval. 

 
If the Council considers that any activities undertaken in an establishment pending 
the result of an appeal may present a risk to public health, the Council will consider 
the use of other relevant enforcement powers. 

 
 
 

~ Page 38 ~



25  

 
14 Relevant Documents 

 

1) Food Safety Act 1990 
 

2) Regulations made under the Food Safety Act 1990 
 

3) Industry Guides to Good Hygiene Practice 
 

4) Ministry of Justice – Cautioning of Adult Offenders 
 

5) Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984 
 

6) Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984, Codes of Practice 
 

7) Crown Prosecution Service: The Code for Crown Prosecutors (January 
2013) 

 
8) Criminal Procedure and Investigations Act 1996 and Home Office 

Code of Practice 
 

9) Food Standards Agency - Framework Agreement on Local Authority Food 
Law Enforcement 

 
10) Human Rights Act 1998 

 
11) Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 

 
12) Statutory Code of Practice for Regulators (Compliance Code) produced 

by the Department for Business Enterprise & Regulatory Reform 
 

13) Enforcement Concordat, produced by Central Government 
 

14) Reducing administrative burdens: effective inspection & enforcement - 
Phillip Hampton March 2005 

 

15) FSA Guidance: Controlling The Risk Of Cross-Contamination From E.coli O157 
2011 and supplemented version 2013 

 

16) Food Law Code of Practice (England) March 2021  
 

17) Module 9 Primary Authority Handbook  
 

18) The Co-ordination of Regulatory Enforcement (Enforcement Action) Order 2009 
(665) 

 

19) Regulatory Enforcement and Sanctions Act 2008 

~ Page 39 ~



25  

 

~ Page 40 ~


	Agenda
	5 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	8 Licensing & Regulatory Update (Q3 2022/23) (Presentation)
	9 Food Safety Enforcement Policy (March 2023)
	Appendix 1 - Food Safety Enforcement Policy


